

Fundamentals of Astronomy UPES Dehradun

Nitesh Kumar

May 23, 2025

Contents

| 1 | Antiquity of Astronomy | | | | | |
|---|------------------------|---|--|----|--|--|
| | 1.1 | Introduction | | | | |
| | 1.2 | Astro | nomy in Ancient Civilizations | 7 | | |
| | | 1.2.1 | Mesopotamian Astronomy (circa 3000 BCE - 500 BCE) | 7 | | |
| | | 1.2.2 | Babylonian Astronomy (circa 1900 BCE - 300 BCE) | 7 | | |
| | | 1.2.3 | Egyptian Contributions (circa 3000 BCE - 30 BCE) | 8 | | |
| | | 1.2.4 | Indian Astronomy (circa 1500 BCE - 500 CE) | 8 | | |
| | | 1.2.5 | Chinese Astronomy (circa 2000 BCE - 1500 CE) | 8 | | |
| | 1.3 | Greek | and Hellenistic Astronomy (circa 600 BCE - 400 CE) | 8 | | |
| | 1.4 | Astro | nomy in the Islamic Golden Age (circa 800 CE - 1400 CE) | 11 | | |
| | 1.5 | Measu | ring the Earth's Size: Eratosthenes' Ingenious Method | 11 | | |
| | | 1.5.1 | The Ingenious Experiment | 11 | | |
| | | 1.5.2 | Calculating the Earth's Circumference | 11 | | |
| | | 1.5.3 | Historical Significance and Legacy | 11 | | |
| | | 1.5.4 | Revisiting Eratosthenes' Method Today | 12 | | |
| | 1.6 | Hippa | rchus's Studies of Lunar and Solar Motion | 12 | | |
| | | 1.6.1 | Analysis of Lunar Motion | 12 | | |
| | | 1.6.2 | Precession of the Equinoxes | 13 | | |
| | | 1.6.3 | Solar Motion and Calendar Development | 13 | | |
| | | 1.6.4 | Eclipse Prediction and Theory | 13 | | |
| | | 1.6.5 | Legacy and Influence | 13 | | |
| | 1.7 | Aryab | hatta I: Revolutionizing Astronomy in Ancient India | 13 | | |
| | | 1.7.1 | Relative Motion and the Earth's Rotation | 14 | | |
| | | 1.7.2 | Eclipses: A Scientific Explanation | 14 | | |
| | | 1.7.3 | Sidereal Periods and Astronomical Measurements | 14 | | |
| | | 1.7.4 | Other Notable Contributions | 15 | | |
| | 1.8 | Varāhamihira: Life and Contributions to Astronomy | | | | |
| | | 1.8.1 | Major Works | 15 | | |
| | | 1.8.2 | Contributions to Astronomy and Mathematics | 16 | | |
| | | 1.8.3 | Legacy | 16 | | |
| | 1.9 | Brahn | nagupta and Other Siddhantic Astronomers: Pioneers of Indian As- | | | |
| | | tronor | ny | 16 | | |
| | | 1.9.1 | Brahmagupta: Life and Contributions | 16 | | |
| | | 1.9.2 | Other Siddhāntic Astronomers and Their Contributions | 17 | | |
| | | 1.9.3 | Impact on Indian and World Astronomy | 17 | | |

| 2 | Pioneers of Ancient Astronomy 19 | | | | | |
|---|----------------------------------|---------|--|-----------|--|--|
| | 2.1 | Hippa | rchus: Unveiling Celestial Mechanics | 19 | | |
| | | 2.1.1 | Studies on Lunar and Solar Motion | 19 | | |
| | | 2.1.2 | Discovery of the Precession of the Equinoxes | 19 | | |
| | 2.2 | Arvab | hata I: India's Astronomical Luminary | 20 | | |
| | | 2.2.1 | Seminal Contributions to Astronomy | 20 | | |
| | 2.3 | Siddha | antic Astronomers: Advancing Indian Astronomy | 20 | | |
| | | 2.3.1 | Varahamihira and Brahmagupta | 20 | | |
| | | 2.3.2 | Symbiosis of Mathematics and Astronomy | 20^{-3} | | |
| | 2.4 | Evider | nce of Precession in Vedic Literature | 21 | | |
| | 2.5 | Jantar | r Mantar: An Astronomical Marvel | 21 | | |
| | | 2.5.1 | Historical Background | 21 | | |
| | | 2.5.2 | Construction and Design | 21 | | |
| | | 2.5.3 | Major Instruments at Jantar Mantar | 21 | | |
| | | 2.5.4 | Scientific Significance | 23 | | |
| | | 2.5.1 | Cultural and Historical Importance | 23 | | |
| | | 2.5.6 | Legacy and Preservation | 23 | | |
| | | 2.0.0 | | 20 | | |
| 3 | Evo | lution | of Solar System Models and Pioneers of Astronomy | 27 | | |
| | 3.1 | Geoce | ntric Model | 27 | | |
| | | 3.1.1 | Claudius Ptolemy | 27 | | |
| | | 3.1.2 | Tycho Brahe | 27 | | |
| | | 3.1.3 | Samanta Chandrasekhar | 27 | | |
| | 3.2 | Retrog | grade Motion of Mars and the Theory of Epicycles | 27 | | |
| | | 3.2.1 | Ptolemaic System and Epicycles | 28 | | |
| | | 3.2.2 | Mechanics of Retrograde Motion | 28 | | |
| | | 3.2.3 | Limitations and Evolution of the Model | 28 | | |
| | 3.3 | Helioc | entric Model | 28 | | |
| | | 3.3.1 | Nicolaus Copernicus | 29 | | |
| | | 3.3.2 | Galileo Galilei | 29 | | |
| | | 3.3.3 | Johannes Kepler | 30 | | |
| | | 3.3.4 | Isaac Newton | 30 | | |
| | | 3.3.5 | Acceptance of the Heliocentric Model | 30 | | |
| | 3.4 | Galileo | o's Pioneering Work | 31 | | |
| | | 3.4.1 | Astronomical Observations | 31 | | |
| | | 3.4.2 | Leaning Tower of Pisa Experiment | 32 | | |
| | | 3.4.3 | Equivalence Principle | 33 | | |
| | 3.5 | Conclu | sion | 34 | | |
| | | | | | | |
| 4 | | | | 35 | | |
| | 4.1 | Laws o | of Gravitation | 35 | | |
| | | 4.1.1 | Newton's Law of Universal Gravitation | 35 | | |
| | | 4.1.2 | Einstein's General Theory of Relativity | 35 | | |
| | 4.2 | Motio | n of the Moon Around the Earth | 36 | | |
| | | 4.2.1 | Kepler's Laws and Lunar Motion | 36 | | |
| | | 4.2.2 | Centripetal Force and Orbital Motion | 36 | | |
| | | 4.2.3 | Tidal Effects and Lunar Evolution | 36 | | |
| | | 4.2.4 | Perturbations and the Influence of the Sun | 37 | | |

| | 4.2.5 Tidal Interactions | 37 |
|------|--|-------------|
| 4.3 | Falling Bodies and Newton's Genius | 37 |
| | 4.3.1 Equivalence of Inertial and Gravitational Mass | 38 |
| | 4.3.2 Apple and the Moon | 38 |
| 44 | Halley's Comet and the Laws of Gravity | 38 |
| | 4.4.1 Edmond Halley's Contribution | 38 |
| | 4.4.2 Cometary Orbits | 38 |
| | 4.4.2 Confirmation of Newtonian Mechanics | 38 |
| 15 | Physics of the Sun | 30 |
| 4.0 | 4.5.1 Structure and Composition | 30 |
| | 4.5.1 Structure and Composition | - <u>10</u> |
| | 4.5.2 Energy Generation and Transport | 40 |
| | 4.5.5 Solar Activity and its Effects | 40 |
| | 4.5.4 Recent Observations and Missions | 40 |
| 1 C | 4.5.5 I nermonuclear Reactions in the Sun | 40 |
| 4.0 | Discovery of Neptune and Pluto, and Minor Celestial Bodies: Asteroid | 41 |
| | Belt, Meteors, and Comets | 41 |
| | 4.6.1 Discovery of Neptune | 41 |
| | 4.6.2 Discovery of Pluto | 41 |
| | 4.6.3 Asteroid Belt | 42 |
| | 4.6.4 Meteors and Meteoroids | 42 |
| | 4.6.5 Comets | 42 |
| 4.7 | Tidal Forces and Oceanic Tides | 42 |
| | 4.7.1 Mechanism of Tidal Forces | 42 |
| | 4.7.2 Types of Tides | 42 |
| | 4.7.3 Implications of Tidal Forces | 43 |
| 4.8 | Precession of the Equinoxes and Change of Seasons | 43 |
| | 4.8.1 Mechanism of Axial Precession | 43 |
| | 4.8.2 Impact on Seasons | 43 |
| 4.9 | Dating the Rig Veda Using the Precession of the Equinoxes | 43 |
| | 4.9.1 Precession of the Equinoxes | 43 |
| | 4.9.2 Astronomical References in the Rig Veda | 43 |
| | 4.9.3 Calculations Involving Precession | 44 |
| | 4.9.4 Challenges in Astronomical Dating | 44 |
| 4.10 | Distances in Astronomy | 44 |
| | 4.10.1 Parallax Method | 44 |
| | 4.10.2 Standard Candles | 44 |
| 4.11 | Spectroscopy | 46 |
| | 4.11.1 Atomic Spectra | 46 |
| | 4.11.2 Doppler Shifts | 46 |
| | | |
| | | 53 |
| 5.1 | Introduction | 53 |
| 5.2 | Stellar Populations | 53 |
| | 5.2.1 Population I | 53 |
| | 5.2.2 Population II | 53 |
| | 5.2.3 Population III | 53 |
| 5.3 | The Hertzsprung-Russell Diagram | 53 |
| | 5.3.1 Structure of the H-R Diagram | 55 |

5

| | 5.4 | Stellar | Evolution and the H-R Diagram | | | | |
|---|------|--|---|--|--|--|--|
| | 5.5 | 5.5 Applications of the H-R Diagram | | | | | |
| | 5.6 | Conclu | $sion \ldots \ldots$ | | | | |
| | 5.7 | Meghn | ad Saha and the Birth of Astrophysics | | | | |
| | 5.8 | Ionized | d Elements and the Saha Equation | | | | |
| | | 5.8.1 | The Saha Ionization Equation | | | | |
| | | 5.8.2 | Significance of the Saha Equation | | | | |
| | 5.9 | Wilson | n-Bappu Effect and Stellar Distances | | | | |
| | | 5.9.1 | Mathematical Formulation | | | | |
| | 5.10 | Stellar | Structure and Evolution | | | | |
| | | 5.10.1 | Low-Mass Stars | | | | |
| | | 5.10.2 | High-Mass Stars 60 | | | | |
| | 5.11 | White | Dwarfs | | | | |
| | 5.12 | Fowler | , Chandrasekhar, and Eddington | | | | |
| | | 5.12.1 | Ralph H. Fowler and the Quantum Approach to Stellar Interiors . 60 | | | | |
| | | 5.12.2 | Subrahmanyan Chandrasekhar and the Limit of White Dwarfs 60 | | | | |
| | | 5.12.3 | Arthur Eddington and Stellar Structure Theory 61 | | | | |
| | 5.13 | Chand | rasekhar's Mass Limit | | | | |
| | | 5.13.1 | Electron Degeneracy Pressure | | | | |
| | | 5.13.2 | Gravitational Pressure and Virial Theorem | | | | |
| | 5.14 | Baade | and Zwicky: Supernovae and Neutron Stars | | | | |
| | 5.15 | δ Supernova Explosion \cdot | | | | | |
| | 5.16 | Pulsar | s | | | | |
| 6 | Gala | Galaxies and Cosmology 65 | | | | | |
| | 6.1 | Milky | Way and Other Galaxies | | | | |
| | | 6.1.1 | Milky Way's Shape and Size | | | | |
| | | 6.1.2 | The Shapley-Curtis Debate | | | | |
| | | 6.1.3 | Measurement of Doppler Shift in Emission Lines | | | | |
| | | 6.1.4 | Cepheid Variables and Distance Measurements | | | | |
| | | 6.1.5 | Classification of Galaxies | | | | |
| | 6.2 | Hubble's Law and the Birth of Modern Cosmology | | | | | |
| | 6.3 | Cosmological Models | | | | | |
| | | 6.3.1 | The Big Bang and Steady State Models | | | | |
| | | 6.3.2 | Hoyle-Narlikar Cosmology | | | | |
| | 6.4 | Radio | Astronomy and Cosmology | | | | |
| | | 6.4.1 | Radio Source Counts and Evolution of Radio Sources 70 | | | | |
| | | 6.4.2 | Angular Resolution, Radio Interferometry, and Large Baselines . 70 | | | | |
| | | 6.4.3 | Detection of Apparent Superluminal Motion | | | | |
| | | 6.4.4 | Radio Telescopes in India: Govind Swarup and Collaborators 71 | | | | |
| | 6.5 | Conclu | 1sion | | | | |

Chapter 1

Antiquity of Astronomy

1.1 Introduction

Astronomy is one of the oldest sciences, dating back to the earliest civilizations. The study of celestial objects has fascinated humankind and has played a crucial role in shaping cultures, timekeeping, navigation, and agriculture.

1.2 Astronomy in Ancient Civilizations

1.2.1 Mesopotamian Astronomy (circa 3000 BCE - 500 BCE)

The Mesopotamians were among the first to systematically observe the night sky. They:

- Recorded celestial events on clay tablets as early as 3000 BCE.
- Developed a lunar calendar by 2000 BCE.
- Associated celestial phenomena with deities and omens, influencing their culture and governance.

1.2.2 Babylonian Astronomy (circa 1900 BCE - 300 BCE)

Building upon Mesopotamian traditions, the Babylonians made significant advancements in astronomy. They:

- Created detailed star catalogues and identified constellations.
- Developed mathematical methods to predict lunar and solar eclipses.
- Introduced the concept of a 360-degree circle for angular measurements (circa 1800 BCE).
- Influenced later Greek and Hellenistic astronomy through their systematic records and predictive models.

Notably, the Babylonian astronomers recorded the motion of Jupiter and other planets, laying the groundwork for planetary theory.

1.2.3 Egyptian Contributions (circa 3000 BCE - 30 BCE)

Ancient Egyptians aligned their pyramids and temples with celestial bodies, particularly the star Sirius and the Sun. By 2500 BCE, they used astronomy to predict the annual flooding of the Nile, essential for agriculture. The construction of the Great Pyramid of Giza (circa 2560 BCE) reflects their astronomical precision.

1.2.4 Indian Astronomy (circa 1500 BCE - 500 CE)

In ancient India, astronomy (Jyotisha) was deeply intertwined with mathematics and religion. Key contributions include:

- Development of accurate calendars, such as the *Panchanga* (circa 1500 BCE).
- Aryabhatta (476 CE) proposed heliocentric theories and calculated planetary motion with remarkable precision.

1.2.5 Chinese Astronomy (circa 2000 BCE - 1500 CE)

Chinese astronomers were meticulous record-keepers of celestial events. Key developments include:

- The earliest known star catalogue by Shi Shen (circa 4th century BCE).
- The observation and recording of comets, supernovae, and eclipses, such as the supernova of 1054 CE.
- Invention of astronomical instruments like the armillary sphere (circa 1st century BCE).

1.3 Greek and Hellenistic Astronomy (circa 600 BCE - 400 CE)

The Greeks laid the foundation for modern astronomy by introducing geometric and mathematical models. Significant figures include:

- Thales of Miletus (circa 624 BCE 546 BCE): Proposed naturalistic explanations for celestial phenomena.
- Pythagoras (circa 570 BCE 495 BCE): Suggested a spherical Earth and linked celestial harmony to mathematics.
- Aristotle (384 BCE 322 BCE): Provided evidence for a spherical Earth using lunar eclipses.
- Ptolemy (circa 100 CE 170 CE): Authored the *Almagest*, a comprehensive treatise on geocentric astronomy.

| 3000 BCE: Mesopotami- ans record celestial events on clay tablets. | |
|---|---|
| , | 2000 BCE: Egyptians develop a calendar aligned with the star Sirius. |
| 1500 BCE: Indian <i>Jy-otisha</i> texts reference astronomical concepts. | |
| | 500 BCE: Pythagoras suggests a spherical Earth. |
| 1054 CE: Chinese astronomers record the Crab Nebula supernova. | |
| | 964 CE: Al-Sufi pub- lishes <i>Book of Fixed Stars</i> . |
| 1400 CE: Islamic Golden Age observatories re- fine planetary models. | |

Figure 1.1: Timeline for Ancient Astronomy

| 150 CE: Ptolemy develops the <i>Almagest</i> , presenting the geocentric model of the universe. | |
|--|--|
| | 1543 CE: Copernicus publishes <i>De</i> <i>revolutionibus orbium coelestium</i> , proposing the heliocentric model. |
| 1572 CE: Tycho Brahe observes the supernova <i>SN 1572</i> , providing key data for the future heliocentric models. | |
| | 1609-1619 CE: Johannes Kepler formulates the three laws of planetary motion, confirming heliocentric theory. |
| 1610 CE: Galileo Galilei uses the telescope to observe Jupiter's moons, supporting the heliocentric model. | |
| | 1687 CE: Isaac Newton publishes <i>Philosophiæ Naturalis Principia</i> <i>Mathematica</i> , explaining gravity and motion, forming the foun- dation of classical mechanics. |
| 1900 CE: Max Planck introduces the concept of quantum theory, shap- ing modern physics and astronomy. | , |
| | 1915 CE: Albert Einstein pub- lishes the General Theory of Rel- ativity, revolutionizing our under- standing of gravity and space-time. |
| 1929 CE: Edwin Hubble discovers the expansion of the universe, leading to the formulation of Hubble's Law. | |
| | 1930s CE: Subrahmanyan Chan- drasekhar develops the theory of white dwarfs and the Chandrasekhar limit. |
| 1970s CE: Stephen Hawking develops theories on black holes and proposes the concept of Hawking radiation. | |
| | 1998 CE: Observations of super- novae lead to the discovery of dark energy, suggesting the acceler- ating expansion of the universe. |

| Figure | $12 \cdot$ | Timeline | of Modern | Astronomy |
|--------|------------|----------|------------|-----------|
| rigure | 1.4. | THHEIHE | or modelli | Astronomy |

1.4 Astronomy in the Islamic Golden Age (circa 800 CE - 1400 CE)

During the Islamic Golden Age, astronomers preserved and expanded upon Greek knowledge. Key advancements include:

- Development of observatories, such as those in Baghdad (established 9th century CE) and Samarkand (15th century CE).
- Improved star catalogues, including Al-Sufi's Book of Fixed Stars (964 CE).
- Contributions by figures like Al-Tusi (1201 CE 1274 CE) and Al-Biruni (973 CE 1048 CE), who refined planetary models and astronomical instruments.

1.5 Measuring the Earth's Size: Eratosthenes' Ingenious Method

In the third century BCE, the Greek astronomer Eratosthenes of Cyrene embarked on a remarkable journey to determine the Earth's size. His method, combining geometry with simple observations, not only showcased the ingenuity of ancient science but also laid the groundwork for future astronomical measurements.

1.5.1 The Ingenious Experiment

Eratosthenes' approach was both simple and profound. He utilized a vertical rod, known as a gnomon, to measure the angle of the Sun's rays at two distinct locations: Alexandria and Syene (modern-day Aswan). At noon on the summer solstice, he observed that in Syene, the Sun was directly overhead, casting no shadow. Conversely, in Alexandria, the Sun's rays formed an angle of approximately 7.2 degrees with the vertical. This difference indicated that the two cities were separated by an angle of 7.2 degrees, or 1/50th of a full circle.

1.5.2 Calculating the Earth's Circumference

Armed with this angular measurement, Eratosthenes made a brilliant leap. He reasoned that if 7.2 degrees corresponded to 1/50th of the Earth's circumference, then the full circumference would be 50 times the distance between Alexandria and Syene. Assuming the distance between the two cities was 5,000 stadia (an ancient unit of length), he calculated the Earth's circumference to be 250,000 stadia. Depending on the exact length of the stadion, this estimate was remarkably close to the modern value.

1.5.3 Historical Significance and Legacy

Eratosthenes' measurement was a monumental achievement in ancient science. His work demonstrated the Earth's spherical nature and provided a method for calculating its size with impressive accuracy. This experiment not only exemplified the application of geometry to real-world problems but also inspired future generations of astronomers and mathematicians. For instance, centuries later, Christopher Columbus, in his quest to find



Figure 1.3: Illustration of Eratosthenes measuring the Earth's circumference using a gnomon.

a westward route to Asia, studied Eratosthenes' findings. However, he misinterpreted the Earth's size, underestimating its circumference, which led to his famous voyage across the Atlantic.

1.5.4 Revisiting Eratosthenes' Method Today

Modern experiments have replicated Eratosthenes' method with contemporary tools, yielding results that closely match his original estimate. For example, a 2021 study revisited Eratosthenes' experiment using modern equipment and found that the Earth's mean radius calculated was within 0.5% of the currently accepted value.

Eratosthenes' experiment remains a testament to the power of observation and reasoning, illustrating how ancient scientists could achieve remarkable accuracy with simple tools and profound insight.

1.6 Hipparchus's Studies of Lunar and Solar Motion

Hipparchus of Nicaea (c. 190–120 BCE) stands as a monumental figure in ancient astronomy, renowned for his meticulous observations and groundbreaking theories concerning the motions of the Moon and the Sun. His work laid the foundation for the development of celestial mechanics and significantly advanced the understanding of astronomical phenomena in his era.

1.6.1 Analysis of Lunar Motion

Hipparchus conducted extensive studies on the Moon's motion, focusing on its varying speed and the complexities of its orbit. He confirmed the accuracy of two key periods known to Babylonian astronomers:

- Mean Synodic Month The average time between successive new moons, approximately 29.5306 days.

- Anomalistic Month The time it takes for the Moon to return to its perigee (closest point to Earth), about 27.5545 days.

By analyzing lunar eclipses and comparing his observations with those of earlier astronomers, Hipparchus refined these values, enhancing the precision of eclipse predictions.

1.6.2 Precession of the Equinoxes

One of Hipparchus's most significant contributions was the discovery of the precession of the equinoxes. By comparing his measurements of the star Spica's position with those of earlier astronomers, he observed a gradual shift in the equinoxes' positions along the ecliptic plane. This indicated that the equinoxes were moving westward through the zodiac at a rate of approximately 1° every 100 years. This discovery revealed that the Earth's rotational axis was slowly precessing, a phenomenon now known as axial precession.

1.6.3 Solar Motion and Calendar Development

Hipparchus also examined the Sun's apparent motion along the ecliptic, noting that the lengths of the seasons were unequal. He proposed a model where the Earth was offset from the center of the Sun's orbit, explaining the varying lengths of seasons. This insight was crucial for refining the calendar system of the time, leading to more accurate predictions of solstices and equinoxes.

1.6.4 Eclipse Prediction and Theory

Utilizing his understanding of lunar and solar motions, Hipparchus developed a method to predict eclipses. He recognized that eclipses occurred in cycles, notably the Saros cycle, which spans approximately 18 years and 11 days. By analyzing the periodicity of lunar and solar eclipses, he could forecast future eclipses with remarkable accuracy for his time.

1.6.5 Legacy and Influence

Hipparchus's work on lunar and solar motions, precession, and eclipse prediction had a profound impact on subsequent astronomical research. His methods and findings were foundational for later astronomers, including Ptolemy, who built upon Hipparchus's models in his own astronomical treatises. The precision and depth of Hipparchus's studies exemplify the advanced state of ancient astronomy and its influence on the development of the field.

1.7 Aryabhatta I: Revolutionizing Astronomy in Ancient India

Aryabhatta I, a towering figure in the history of astronomy and mathematics, authored the seminal work "Aryabhattiya" in 499 CE at the young age of 23. This treatise, composed in verse form, presented a groundbreaking system of astronomy that challenged

prevailing geocentric beliefs. Aryabhatta's contributions spanned various aspects of the field, including planetary motion, the Earth's rotation, and the causes of eclipses.

1.7.1 Relative Motion and the Earth's Rotation

Aryabhatta ingeniously explained the apparent westward motion of stars by proposing that the Earth rotates on its own axis. This concept, revolutionary for its time, was articulated in the "Aryabhattiya" (Gola Pada, Verse 9):

अनुलोमगतिः नौस्थः पश्यति अचलम् विलोमं यद्वत् । अचलानि भानि तद्वत् समपश्चिमगानि लङ्कायाम् ॥

(anulomagati
h nausthah paśyati achalam vilomam yadvat | achalāni bhāni tadvat samapaści
magāni lankāyām ||)

Translation: "Just as a man in a boat moving forward sees the stationary objects (on the shore) as moving backward, likewise, the stationary stars are seen by the inhabitants of Lanka (i.e., on the equator) as moving westward at the same rate."

This analogy of a person in a boat vividly illustrates the concept of relative motion. Just as the stationary objects appear to move backward for someone in a moving boat, the stars appear to move westward due to the Earth's eastward rotation. This verse demonstrates Aryabhatta's profound understanding of relative motion and his bold assertion of a rotating Earth.

1.7.2 Eclipses: A Scientific Explanation

Aryabhatta provided a scientific explanation for solar and lunar eclipses, rejecting mythological interpretations. He correctly stated that lunar eclipses occur when the Moon enters the Earth's shadow, and solar eclipses happen when the Moon passes between the Sun and the Earth, casting a shadow on the Earth. This was articulated in the "Aryabhattiya" (Gola Pada, Verses 37 and 38):

छादयति शशि सूर्य शशिनम् महती च भूच्छाय । $(ch\bar{a}dayati\ sasis s\bar{u}rya\ sasisinam\ mahat\bar{i}\ ca\ bh\bar{u}cch\bar{a}ya\ ||)$

Translation: "The Moon covers the Sun (during a solar eclipse), and the great shadow of the Earth (covers) the Moon (during a lunar eclipse)."

He further elaborated on the size and extent of these shadows, providing a detailed geometrical analysis of the phenomenon. Aryabhatta's explanation of eclipses as natural events, based on the positions and movements of celestial bodies, was a significant departure from traditional beliefs and marked a triumph of scientific reasoning.

1.7.3 Sidereal Periods and Astronomical Measurements

Demonstrating remarkable precision, Aryabhatta calculated the length of the sidereal year—the time taken for the Earth to orbit the Sun relative to the fixed stars—as 365.25858 days. This calculation was only marginally different from the modern value of 365.25636 days, showcasing his advanced understanding of astronomical timekeeping.

1.7.4 Other Notable Contributions

Besides these key concepts, Aryabhatta made several other noteworthy contributions to astronomy:

- **Planetary Orbits:** He determined the periods of planetary rotations relative to the Sun and described the epicyclic model of planetary motion.
- Earth's Circumference: He provided a remarkably accurate estimate of the Earth's circumference.

Aryabhatta's Contributions to Astronomy

Aryabhatta's Aryabhattiya stands as a testament to his profound impact on astronomy. His bold assertion of the Earth's rotation and his scientific explanations of eclipses challenged contemporary beliefs and paved the way for future discoveries. He provided rational explanations for solar and lunar eclipses, attributing them to the interplay of shadows between celestial bodies: lunar eclipses occur when the Moon enters Earth's shadow, and solar eclipses when the Moon obstructs the Sun's light. This scientific interpretation diverged from prevailing mythological explanations. Aryabhatta also correctly identified that the Moon and planets shine due to reflected sunlight, a concept detailed in his discussions on eclipses. His work, including methods for calculating planetary positions and understanding Earth's rotation, influenced successors like Brahmagupta and, through translations and commentaries, significantly impacted Islamic and European astronomical traditions, solidifying his enduring legacy in the global history of science.

1.8 Varāhamihira: Life and Contributions to Astronomy

Varāhamihira (505–587 CE) was a distinguished Indian astronomer, mathematician, and astrologer whose scholarly works have had a lasting impact on both Indian and global scientific traditions. Born in the Avanti region, near Ujjain in present-day Madhya Pradesh, India, he was the son of Adityadasa, a devout sun worshipper. Ujjain, a prominent center for astronomical studies during his time, provided Varāhamihira with a conducive environment for his intellectual pursuits.

1.8.1 Major Works

Varāhamihira's scholarly contributions are encapsulated in several seminal texts:

Pancha-Siddhāntikā: This treatise is a comprehensive compilation of five preexisting astronomical doctrines, namely the Sūrya Siddhānta, Romaka Siddhānta, Paulīṣa Siddhānta, Vasiṣṭha Siddhānta, and Paitāmaha Siddhānta. By synthesizing these diverse sources, Varāhamihira preserved and propagated a wide array of astronomical knowledge, including methods for calculating planetary positions, eclipses, and other celestial phenomena.

Bṛhat Saṃhitā: Often referred to as the "Great Compilation," this encyclopedic work encompasses a vast range of subjects such as astronomy, astrology, geography, architecture, and meteorology. It serves as a valuable resource for understanding the scientific and cultural milieu of ancient India.

Bṛhat Jātaka: This text is a foundational work in Vedic astrology, detailing the principles of horoscope interpretation and predictive astrology. It has been highly regarded and extensively referenced by subsequent generations of astrologers.

1.8.2 Contributions to Astronomy and Mathematics

Varāhamihira made significant advancements in the fields of astronomy and mathematics:

Trigonometry: He refined the sine tables introduced by his predecessor, Āryabhaṭa I, achieving greater accuracy in trigonometric calculations. This improvement was crucial for precise astronomical observations and predictions.

Interpolation Methods: To enhance the precision of his sine tables, Varāhamihira developed sophisticated interpolation techniques. These methods allowed for more accurate computations of intermediate values, which were essential for astronomical applications.

Astrology and Astronomy Integration: By integrating astrological concepts with empirical astronomical observations, Varāhamihira contributed to a more comprehensive understanding of celestial influences on terrestrial events. His work bridged the gap between observational science and traditional beliefs, influencing both fields profoundly.

1.8.3 Legacy

Varāhamihira's contributions have left an indelible mark on the scientific and cultural heritage of India and beyond:

Preservation of Knowledge: Through his compilations, he preserved and systematized the astronomical and astrological knowledge of his time, ensuring its transmission to future generations.

Influence on Later Scholars: His works have been extensively studied and commented upon by subsequent scholars, both within India and in the broader scientific community. The 11th-century scholar Al-Biruni, for instance, praised Varāhamihira's contributions to astronomy.

Cultural Impact: The integration of scientific inquiry with cultural and religious practices in his works reflects the holistic approach to knowledge in ancient India, influencing various aspects of society, including architecture, agriculture, and daily life.

In summary, Varāhamihira's life and works exemplify the rich tradition of scientific inquiry in ancient India. His interdisciplinary approach and commitment to knowledge preservation have had a lasting influence on both Indian and world astronomy.

1.9 Brahmagupta and Other Siddhāntic Astronomers: Pioneers of Indian Astronomy

1.9.1 Brahmagupta: Life and Contributions

Brahmagupta (598–668 CE) was a preeminent Indian mathematician and astronomer, born in Bhillamāla (modern-day Bhinmal) in Rajasthan, India. He was the head of the astronomical observatory at Ujjain, a leading center for astronomical research during his era.

Major Works:

- *Brāhmasphuṭasiddhānta* (628 CE): This seminal text comprises 25 chapters detailing various aspects of mathematics and astronomy. Notably, it is among the earliest known works to treat zero as a number, establishing rules for arithmetic operations involving zero.

- *Khaṇḍakhādyaka* (665 CE): Serving as a practical manual of Indian astronomy, this work provided methods for calculating planetary positions and eclipses, reflecting Brahmagupta's commitment to making astronomical computations more accessible.

Contributions to Astronomy:

- **Celestial Calculations**: Brahmagupta developed methods to predict planetary positions and the timings of lunar and solar eclipses, utilizing mathematical frameworks that enhanced the precision of astronomical observations.

- **Earth's Shape and Gravity**: He proposed that Earth is spherical and posited that objects fall towards the Earth due to a force of attraction, concepts that predate Newton's law of universal gravitation by several centuries.

Contributions to Mathematics:

- **Number Systems**: Brahmagupta made significant advancements in number systems, including algorithms for square roots and the solution of quadratic equations.

- Algebraic Innovations: He introduced rules for operations involving negative numbers and zero, laying foundational principles for modern algebra.

1.9.2 Other Siddhantic Astronomers and Their Contributions

The Siddhāntic period of Indian astronomy, spanning from the 5th to the 12th centuries CE, was marked by the composition of comprehensive astronomical treatises known as Siddhāntas. Notable astronomers of this era include:

- $\bar{A}ryabhața I$ (476–550 CE): His work, the $\bar{A}ryabhațiya$, introduced the concept of Earth's rotation on its axis and provided methods for calculating planetary positions and eclipses.

- Varāhamihira (505–587 CE): Author of the *Pańcasiddhāntikā*, he compiled and synthesized knowledge from five pre-existing astronomical treatises, contributing significantly to the preservation and advancement of astronomical science.

- **Bhāskara I** (600–680 CE): A follower of Āryabhaṭa I, he wrote extensive commentaries elucidating Āryabhaṭa's work and made original contributions, including accurate approximations of the sine function.

1.9.3 Impact on Indian and World Astronomy

The collective efforts of Brahmagupta and his contemporaries during the Siddhāntic period had a profound and lasting impact on both Indian and global astronomy:

- Mathematical Foundations: Their integration of mathematics with astronomical observations facilitated more precise calculations of celestial phenomena, influencing subsequent developments in trigonometry and algebra.

- **Transmission of Knowledge**: The works of these astronomers were translated into Arabic during the Islamic Golden Age, profoundly influencing Islamic astronomy. This knowledge later permeated into Europe, contributing to the scientific awakening during the Renaissance.

- **Cultural Legacy**: The Siddhāntic texts not only advanced scientific understanding but also integrated astronomical knowledge into the cultural and religious practices of India, reflecting a holistic approach to science and spirituality.

In summary, Brahmagupta and other Siddhāntic astronomers were instrumental in advancing astronomical science through rigorous observation and mathematical innovation. Their legacy continues to influence contemporary scientific thought and underscores the rich heritage of Indian astronomy.

Chapter 2

Pioneers of Ancient Astronomy

2.1 Hipparchus: Unveiling Celestial Mechanics

2.1.1 Studies on Lunar and Solar Motion

Hipparchus, an eminent Greek astronomer of the 2nd century BCE, made significant contributions to understanding the movements of celestial bodies. He meticulously analyzed the Moon's motion, accounting for its varying speed and inclination relative to the ecliptic. By comparing his observations with those of earlier astronomers, Hipparchus developed a theory that could predict lunar and solar eclipses. His work laid the foundation for future astronomical models. [1]

2.1.2 Discovery of the Precession of the Equinoxes



Figure 2.1: Illustration of the Precession of the Equinoxes

One of Hipparchus's most remarkable achievements was identifying the precession of the equinoxes. By comparing his data with earlier records, he observed that the positions of the equinoxes and solstices shifted westward over time against the backdrop of fixed stars. This discovery highlighted the gradual change in Earth's rotational axis, a phenomenon now known as axial precession. [2]

2.2 Aryabhata I: India's Astronomical Luminary

2.2.1 Seminal Contributions to Astronomy

Aryabhata I, a pioneering Indian astronomer and mathematician of the 5th century CE, introduced revolutionary ideas in his work, the *Aryabhatiya*. He proposed that Earth rotates on its axis, explaining the apparent westward motion of stars. Aryabhata also provided accurate explanations for solar and lunar eclipses, attributing them to the shadows cast by and on Earth, respectively. His insights marked a significant departure from mythological explanations of celestial phenomena. [3]

चन्द्रो जलमर्कोऽग्निर्मृद्भूश्छायापि या तमस्त छादयति शशी सूर्यं शशिनं महती च भूच्छाया ।।

- Aryabhatiyam, Golapadah, Chapter 4, Shloka 37

Moon is of water, sun is of fire, earth is of soil, and its shadow is of darkness. The moon covers the sun (solar eclipse) and the great shadow of the earth covers moon (lunar eclipse).

Figure 2.2: Aryabhata's Model of Solar and Lunar Eclipses.

2.3 Siddhantic Astronomers: Advancing Indian Astronomy

2.3.1 Varahamihira and Brahmagupta

Following Aryabhata, Indian astronomy flourished with scholars like Varahamihira and Brahmagupta. Varahamihira's *Brihat Samhita* encompassed a wide range of subjects, including planetary motions and eclipses. Brahmagupta, in his work *Brahmasphutasid-dhanta*, made significant contributions to mathematics and astronomy, refining methods for calculating planetary positions and introducing rules for arithmetic operations involving zero. [4]

2.3.2 Symbiosis of Mathematics and Astronomy

The advancements by these astronomers underscore the deep interconnection between mathematics and astronomy in ancient India. Precise astronomical calculations necessitated the development of sophisticated mathematical techniques, leading to innovations that have had a lasting impact on both fields.

2.4 Evidence of Precession in Vedic Literature

Ancient Indian texts, such as the Vedas, contain references that suggest an awareness of the precession of the equinoxes. Descriptions of the positions of constellations and the timing of rituals indicate a recognition of the gradual shift in the celestial sphere over centuries. This implicit knowledge highlights the advanced observational skills of early Indian astronomers.

2.5 Jantar Mantar: An Astronomical Marvel

Jantar Mantar is a collection of astronomical observatories built by Maharaja Sawai Jai Singh II of Jaipur in the early 18th century. These structures represent an extraordinary blend of science, architecture, and innovation, designed to measure time, track celestial bodies, and improve astronomical calculations. The most famous of these observatories is located in Jaipur, while others were constructed in Delhi, Ujjain, Mathura, and Varanasi.

2.5.1 Historical Background

Maharaja Sawai Jai Singh II (1688–1743), an enlightened ruler and astronomer, was deeply interested in celestial observations and mathematical calculations. Recognizing the inaccuracies in existing astronomical tables, he commissioned the construction of five observatories between 1724 and 1735 to refine astronomical measurements and enhance predictive models.

2.5.2 Construction and Design

The Jantar Mantar observatories are built using stone and masonry, with each instrument precisely aligned to astronomical coordinates. Unlike the fragile metallic instruments of the time, these massive structures were designed for durability and high accuracy. The observatories draw influence from Islamic and European astronomical traditions while incorporating indigenous knowledge.

2.5.3 Major Instruments at Jantar Mantar

Each Jantar Mantar site contains a variety of instruments, each serving a distinct purpose. Some of the most significant ones include:

Samrat Yantra (The Supreme Instrument)

The Samrat Yantra is a giant equinoctial sundial that measures time with remarkable precision. It consists of a triangular gnomon (a large triangular wall) aligned with the Earth's axis, flanked by two quadrants. The shadow cast by the gnomon allows for time measurement up to an accuracy of two seconds.

Jai Prakash Yantra

This instrument consists of two hemispherical bowls with markings that allow astronomers to determine the positions of celestial objects. It is used to measure the coordinates of stars and planets with great accuracy.



Figure 2.3: Jantar Mantar Observatory in Jaipur. (PC: robinage.com)

Rama Yantra

A cylindrical structure with open centers, the Rama Yantra is used to determine the altitude and azimuth of celestial bodies. It provides a three-dimensional representation of the sky and aids in precise celestial calculations.

Chakra Yantra

This instrument is employed to measure the declination of celestial objects and track their movement across the sky. It consists of circular metal rings calibrated for angular measurements.

Dakshin Bhitti Yantra

A vertical sundial that determines meridian transit times and celestial altitudes. This instrument plays a crucial role in understanding the Sun's movement throughout the year.

Nadivalaya Yantra

A pair of circular plates facing north and south, this instrument measures time accurately throughout the day, even during equinoxes when the Sun is directly overhead.

2.5.4 Scientific Significance

The Jantar Mantar observatories were revolutionary for their time, providing accurate data that helped improve astronomical tables and calculations. Their large size allowed for greater precision than smaller instruments, making them invaluable for:

- Measuring time with high accuracy
- Predicting solar and lunar eclipses
- Determining the positions of planets and stars
- Calculating celestial coordinates
- Understanding the motion of celestial bodies

2.5.5 Cultural and Historical Importance

In addition to their scientific value, the Jantar Mantar observatories hold immense cultural and historical significance:

- Recognized as UNESCO World Heritage Sites, these structures symbolize India's rich astronomical heritage.
- They showcase an early attempt to bridge Eastern and Western scientific traditions.
- The observatories remain key attractions, drawing researchers, historians, and tourists from around the world.

2.5.6 Legacy and Preservation

Efforts are ongoing to preserve and maintain the Jantar Mantar observatories. Restoration projects ensure the integrity of these ancient structures while modern studies continue to analyze their accuracy and relevance. They serve as an enduring testament to India's scientific advancements in pre-modern times.

Bibliography

- [1] *Hipparchus*, Encyclopædia Britannica. [Online]. Available: https://www. britannica.com/biography/Hipparchus-Greek-astronomer
- [2] Hipparchus and the Precession of the Equinoxes, European Association for Astronomy Education. [Online]. Available: https://eaae-astronomy.org/workshops/ hipparchus-and-the-precession-of-the-equinoxes
- [3] Aryabhata, Encyclopædia Britannica. [Online]. Available: https://www.britannica. com/biography/Aryabhata-I
- [4] The Hidden Story of How Ancient India Shaped the West, The Guardian. [Online]. Available: https://www.theguardian.com/world/article/2024/sep/01/ hidden-story-ancient-india-west-maths-astronomy-historians

Chapter 3

Evolution of Solar System Models and Pioneers of Astronomy

3.1 Geocentric Model

3.1.1 Claudius Ptolemy

Claudius Ptolemy, a Greco-Roman astronomer of the 2nd century CE, proposed the geocentric model, positioning Earth at the universe's center. To explain the observed retrograde motion of planets, Ptolemy introduced the concept of epicycles, where each planet moves in a small circle (epicycle) whose center moves along a larger circle (deferent) around Earth.

3.1.2 Tycho Brahe

In the late 16th century, Danish astronomer Tycho Brahe developed a hybrid model combining geocentric and heliocentric elements. In his model, the Sun and Moon orbited Earth, while other planets orbited the Sun. Brahe's precise astronomical observations laid the groundwork for future models.

3.1.3 Samanta Chandrasekhar

Samanta Chandrasekhar, a 19th-century Indian astronomer, proposed a model with both heliocentric and geocentric elements. In this model, the inner and outer planets orbited the Sun, but Earth remained stationary, with both the Moon and the Sun moving around it in different orbits. This model explained various celestial phenomena, including retrograde motion, equinoxes, solstices, and eclipses.

3.2 Retrograde Motion of Mars and the Theory of Epicycles

Retrograde motion refers to the apparent backward movement of a planet against the backdrop of stars. This phenomenon is most notably observed in planets like Mars, which periodically appear to reverse their usual eastward trajectory and move westward

for a time before resuming their original path. In the geocentric model, where Earth is considered the center of the universe, explaining this motion posed significant challenges.

3.2.1 Ptolemaic System and Epicycles

Claudius Ptolemy, a Greco-Roman astronomer of the 2nd century CE, developed a comprehensive geocentric model to account for celestial observations, including retrograde motion. To explain the irregular movements of planets, Ptolemy introduced the concept of epicycles. In this system:

Deferent: A large circle centered around Earth along which the center of the epicycle moves.

Epicycle: A smaller circle whose center moves along the deferent, and the planet itself moves along the circumference of the epicycle.

The combination of these two motions allowed Ptolemy to model the observed paths of planets. When a planet moves along the lower half of its epicycle, it travels in the opposite direction to its deferent, resulting in the observed retrograde motion.

3.2.2 Mechanics of Retrograde Motion

In the Ptolemaic system, each planet's motion is a combination of its movement along the epicycle and the epicycle's movement along the deferent. This dual motion creates a looping path as seen from Earth. When the planet is on the part of the epicycle closest to Earth, its apparent motion against the background stars slows, stops, and temporarily reverses, creating the retrograde effect. This model, while complex, provided a framework that matched observational data of the time.

3.2.3 Limitations and Evolution of the Model

Despite its ingenuity, the Ptolemaic system required increasingly complex additions, such as introducing more epicycles and adjusting the speeds of planetary motions, to align with precise astronomical observations. The model's complexity and the need for constant adjustments highlighted its limitations. The eventual shift to the heliocentric model by Nicolaus Copernicus in the 16th century offered a more straightforward explanation for retrograde motion, attributing it to the relative positions and motions of Earth and the other planets in their orbits around the Sun.

For a visual representation of how epicycles were used to explain retrograde motion, you can refer to the following link to video 1 and video 2.

3.3 Heliocentric Model

The heliocentric model, which positions the Sun at the center of the solar system with Earth and other planets orbiting around it, marked a pivotal shift in astronomical thought. This model challenged the long-standing geocentric view that placed Earth at the universe's center.

3.3.1 Nicolaus Copernicus

Nicolaus Copernicus (1473–1543), a Polish astronomer, is credited with formulating the first comprehensive heliocentric model. In his seminal work, *De revolutionibus orbium coelestium* ("On the Revolutions of the Heavenly Spheres"), published in 1543, Copernicus proposed that:

- The Sun is stationary at the center of the universe.
- Earth and other planets revolve around the Sun in circular orbits.
- Earth rotates on its axis daily, leading to the cycle of day and night.
- The apparent retrograde motion of planets is a result of Earth's motion relative to other planets.



Figure 3.1: Nicolaus Copernicus (1473–1543).

Copernicus's model provided a more straightforward explanation for celestial phenomena, such as the retrograde motion of planets, without resorting to the complex system of epicycles used in the Ptolemaic geocentric model. However, due to the lack of observable stellar parallax and the deeply entrenched geocentric views of the time, his heliocentric theory initially faced skepticism and limited acceptance.

3.3.2 Galileo Galilei

Galileo Galilei (1564–1642), an Italian astronomer and physicist, played a crucial role in providing empirical support for the heliocentric model. Through his improvements to the telescope and subsequent astronomical observations, Galileo made several key discoveries:

- **Phases of Venus:** Galileo observed that Venus exhibited a full set of phases, similar to the Moon. This observation was inconsistent with the geocentric model but aligned with the heliocentric theory, where Venus orbits the Sun, showing varying phases as viewed from Earth.
- Moons of Jupiter: In 1610, Galileo discovered four moons orbiting Jupiter (now known as the Galilean moons). This finding provided a clear example of celestial bodies not orbiting Earth, challenging the geocentric model's assertion that all celestial objects revolve around our planet.

• Sunspots and Lunar Surface: Galileo's observations of sunspots and the Moon's craters provided evidence that celestial bodies were not perfect, unchanging spheres, as previously thought, but had imperfections and dynamic features.

Galileo's advocacy for the heliocentric model brought him into conflict with the Catholic Church, leading to his trial and house arrest. Despite this, his contributions significantly advanced the acceptance of the heliocentric theory.

3.3.3 Johannes Kepler

Johannes Kepler (1571–1630), a German astronomer and mathematician, further refined the heliocentric model by introducing the concept of elliptical orbits. Building upon the precise observational data of his mentor, Tycho Brahe, Kepler formulated three laws of planetary motion:

- 1. First Law (Law of Ellipses): Planets move in elliptical orbits with the Sun at one focus.
- 2. Second Law (Law of Equal Areas): A line connecting a planet to the Sun sweeps out equal areas in equal times, implying that planets move faster in their orbits when closer to the Sun.
- 3. Third Law (Law of Harmonies): The square of a planet's orbital period is proportional to the cube of its semi-major axis, establishing a relationship between the time a planet takes to orbit the Sun and its average distance from the Sun.

Kepler's laws provided a more accurate description of planetary motions and addressed some of the limitations of Copernicus's model, such as the assumption of circular orbits.

3.3.4 Isaac Newton

Isaac Newton (1643–1727), an English mathematician and physicist, unified the heliocentric model with his law of universal gravitation. Newton's work explained the underlying forces governing planetary motions, providing a theoretical foundation for Kepler's empirical laws.

Newton's law of universal gravitation posited that every mass attracts every other mass with a force proportional to their masses and inversely proportional to the square of the distance between them. This principle explained not only the motions of planets around the Sun but also the orbits of moons around planets and the trajectories of comets.

3.3.5 Acceptance of the Heliocentric Model

The acceptance of the heliocentric model was gradual, facing resistance due to religious, philosophical, and observational challenges. However, the accumulation of evidence from astronomical observations and the development of a coherent theoretical framework eventually led to its widespread acceptance.

The heliocentric model's adoption marked a significant paradigm shift in astronomy, laying the foundation for modern astrophysics and altering humanity's understanding of its place in the cosmos.

Johannes Kepler, using Tycho Brahe's observational data, formulated three laws describing planetary motion:

- 1. First Law (Law of Ellipses): Planets move in elliptical orbits with the Sun at one focus.
- 2. Second Law (Law of Equal Areas): A line connecting a planet to the Sun sweeps out equal areas in equal times.
- 3. Third Law (Law of Harmonies): The square of a planet's orbital period is proportional to the cube of its semi-major axis.

These laws provided a mathematical framework for understanding planetary motions.

3.4 Galileo's Pioneering Work

Galileo Galilei (1564–1642) was an Italian astronomer, physicist, and engineer whose contributions significantly advanced the scientific revolution. Galileo Galilei conducted experiments to measure time and motion, laying the foundation for classical mechanics. He studied the motion of pendulums and falling objects, contributing to the understanding of kinematics. His work encompassed various fields, including kinematics, astronomy, and the scientific method.

3.4.1 Astronomical Observations

Through his improvements to the telescope, Galileo made several key discoveries:

• **Phases of Venus:** Galileo observed that Venus exhibited a full set of phases, similar to the Moon. This observation was inconsistent with the geocentric model but aligned with the heliocentric theory, where Venus orbits the Sun, showing varying phases as viewed from Earth.



Figure 3.2: Phases of Venus.

• Moons of Jupiter: In 1610, Galileo discovered four moons orbiting Jupiter (now known as the Galilean moons). This finding provided a clear example of celestial bodies not orbiting Earth, challenging the geocentric model's assertion that all celestial objects revolve around our planet.



Figure 3.3: Moons of Jupiter.

• Sunspots and Lunar Surface: Galileo's observations of sunspots and the Moon's craters provided evidence that celestial bodies were not perfect, unchanging spheres, as previously thought, but had imperfections and dynamic features.



Figure 3.4: Moon by Gallileo.

3.4.2 Leaning Tower of Pisa Experiment

According to legends, Galileo conducted an experiment by dropping two spheres of different masses from the Leaning Tower of Pisa to demonstrate that their time of descent was independent of their mass. This experiment challenged Aristotle's theory, which posited that heavier objects fall faster than lighter ones. Galileo's findings suggested that, in the absence of air resistance, all objects fall at the same rate regardless of their mass.



Figure 3.5: Leaning Pisa Experiment.

3.4.3 Equivalence Principle

Galileo's investigations into the motion of falling bodies laid the groundwork for the equivalence principle. He proposed that the acceleration due to gravity is the same for all objects, regardless of their mass or composition. This concept, known as the universality of free fall, was a precursor to Einstein's equivalence principle, which became a cornerstone of general relativity.



Figure 3.6: Equivalence Principle.

3.5 Conclusion

The transition from the geocentric to the heliocentric model marked a significant paradigm shift in astronomy. Contributions from astronomers like Ptolemy, Tycho Brahe, Samanta Chandrasekhar, Copernicus, Kepler, and Galileo revolutionized our understanding of the solar system and laid the foundation for modern astronomy.

Chapter 4

4.1 Laws of Gravitation

Gravitation is one of the fundamental forces of nature, responsible for the motion of celestial bodies, the structure of galaxies, and the dynamics of the universe. The study of gravitational laws has been pivotal in understanding planetary motion, the behavior of falling bodies, and the large-scale structure of the cosmos. Historically, the understanding of gravity has evolved from Aristotle's natural motion concepts to Newton's universal law of gravitation and, later, Einstein's general theory of relativity.

4.1.1 Newton's Law of Universal Gravitation

Isaac Newton formulated the Law of Universal Gravitation in 1687, stating that every mass in the universe attracts every other mass with a force proportional to the product of their masses and inversely proportional to the square of the distance between them. Mathematically, it is expressed as:

$$F = \frac{GM_1M_2}{r^2} \tag{4.1}$$

where:

- F is the gravitational force between two objects,
- G is the gravitational constant $(6.674 \times 10^{-11} \text{m}^3 \text{kg}^{-1} \text{s}^{-2})$,
- M_1 and M_2 are the masses of the two objects,
- r is the distance between the centers of the two masses.

Newton's law explains planetary orbits, tidal forces, and free-fall acceleration near the Earth's surface.

4.1.2 Einstein's General Theory of Relativity

While Newtonian gravity successfully describes most gravitational interactions, it is an approximation of the more precise general theory of relativity proposed by Albert Einstein in 1915. This theory describes gravity not as a force but as a curvature of spacetime caused by mass and energy. The Einstein field equations govern this curvature and predict phenomena such as gravitational time dilation, black holes, and gravitational waves.

4.2 Motion of the Moon Around the Earth

The Moon orbits the Earth due to the gravitational attraction between the two bodies. The key aspects governing this motion include Newtonian mechanics, Kepler's laws of planetary motion, and tidal effects.

4.2.1 Kepler's Laws and Lunar Motion

Johannes Kepler formulated three laws of planetary motion, which also apply to the Moon's motion around the Earth:

- 1. First Law (Law of Ellipses): The Moon moves in an elliptical orbit with the Earth at one of the foci.
- 2. Second Law (Law of Equal Areas): A line connecting the Moon to the Earth sweeps out equal areas in equal time intervals, implying that the Moon moves faster when closer to the Earth (perigee) and slower when farther away (apogee).
- 3. Third Law (Harmonic Law): The square of the Moon's orbital period (T) is proportional to the cube of the semi-major axis (a) of its orbit:

$$T^2 \propto a^3 \tag{4.2}$$

which provides insight into the Moon's orbital period relative to its distance from the Earth.

4.2.2 Centripetal Force and Orbital Motion

The Moon remains in orbit because its velocity provides the necessary centripetal force to counteract Earth's gravitational pull. The centripetal force required to keep the Moon in its orbit is given by:

$$F_c = \frac{M_{\rm Moon}v^2}{r} \tag{4.3}$$

where v is the orbital velocity of the Moon and r is its orbital radius. Since the gravitational force acts as the source of the centripetal force, we equate:

$$\frac{GM_{\rm Earth}M_{\rm Moon}}{r^2} = \frac{M_{\rm Moon}v^2}{r} \tag{4.4}$$

which allows for the derivation of the Moon's velocity and orbital period.

4.2.3 Tidal Effects and Lunar Evolution

The gravitational interaction between the Earth and the Moon also causes tidal effects. The Earth's gravitational pull leads to the Moon's synchronous rotation, meaning it always shows the same face toward Earth. This effect, known as tidal locking, occurs due to energy dissipation in the Moon's interior over millions of years. Additionally, the Moon's gravitational influence generates ocean tides on Earth, which, through tidal friction, gradually increases the Moon's orbit and slows Earth's rotation.

Certainly! Here's an expanded version of the provided topics:

4.2.4 Perturbations and the Influence of the Sun

While the Earth-Moon system is often modeled as a two-body problem, the Sun's gravitational influence introduces significant perturbations in the Moon's orbit. These perturbations manifest in several ways:

Precession: The gravitational forces from the Sun cause the orientation of the Moon's orbital plane to slowly rotate over time. This phenomenon, known as nodal precession, affects the alignment of the Moon's orbit relative to Earth's equatorial plane.

Libration: The Sun's gravitational perturbations contribute to the Moon's libration oscillations that allow observers on Earth to see slightly different hemispheres of the Moon over time. These oscillations are due to variations in the Moon's orbital speed and inclination.

Eccentricity Variations: The Moon's orbital eccentricity, or the degree to which its orbit deviates from a perfect circle, is influenced by the Sun's gravity. These variations can affect the distance between the Earth and the Moon, leading to changes in tidal forces and the observed size of the Moon from Earth.

Understanding these perturbations is crucial for precise space navigation and accurate predictions of celestial events such as eclipses. For instance, the Sun's gravitational influence can destabilize certain orbits around the Earth-Moon system, necessitating corrections in spacecraft trajectories.

4.2.5 Tidal Interactions

The gravitational interaction between the Earth and the Moon leads to tidal effects that influence both bodies:

Ocean Tides on Earth: The Moon's gravity pulls on Earth's oceans, causing the water to bulge out on the side nearest to the Moon and the side farthest from the Moon, resulting in high tides. As the Earth rotates, these bulges move, leading to the regular rise and fall of sea levels known as tides.

Tidal Locking of the Moon: Earth's gravity exerts tidal forces on the Moon, creating bulges on its surface. Over time, these forces have slowed the Moon's rotation to the point where its rotational period matches its orbital period around Earth. This synchronous rotation means the same side of the Moon always faces Earth—a phenomenon known as tidal locking.

Orbital Evolution: Tidal interactions are gradually transferring angular momentum from Earth's rotation to the Moon's orbit. This process causes Earth's rotation to slow down and the Moon to slowly recede from Earth at a rate of approximately 3.8 centimeters per year.

These tidal interactions have significant implications for Earth's climate, the length of a day, and the stability of the Earth-Moon system over geological timescales.

4.3 Falling Bodies and Newton's Genius

Before Newton, Galileo Galilei had demonstrated that in the absence of air resistance, all objects, regardless of their mass, fall with the same acceleration due to gravity. This observation challenged the Aristotelian view that heavier objects fall faster than lighter ones.

4.3.1 Equivalence of Inertial and Gravitational Mass

Newton's work furthered this understanding by suggesting that an object's resistance to acceleration (inertial mass) is equivalent to its gravitational mass—the property that determines the strength of its gravitational attraction. This equivalence implies that the motion of a falling body is independent of its composition and mass.

This concept laid the foundation for Einstein's later development of the Equivalence Principle, which became a cornerstone of General Relativity. The principle posits that the effects of gravity are locally indistinguishable from acceleration, leading to the understanding that gravity is a manifestation of the curvature of spacetime caused by mass and energy.

4.3.2 Apple and the Moon

Newton famously realized that the force keeping the Moon in orbit around Earth is the same as the force that causes an apple to fall from a tree—gravity. He proposed that this force decreases with the square of the distance between two objects, leading to the formulation of the inverse-square law of universal gravitation.

This insight unified celestial and terrestrial mechanics, demonstrating that the same physical laws apply both on Earth and in the heavens. Newton's law of universal gravitation not only explained the motion of planets and moons but also laid the groundwork for classical mechanics, profoundly influencing the development of physics.

4.4 Halley's Comet and the Laws of Gravity

4.4.1 Edmond Halley's Contribution

In 1705, Edmond Halley published A Synopsis of the Astronomy of Comets, wherein he analyzed historical comet observations. By applying Newton's laws of motion and universal gravitation, Halley computed the orbits of 24 comets. He observed that the comets of 1531, 1607, and 1682 exhibited remarkably similar orbital elements, leading him to propose that these were successive appearances of the same comet. Halley predicted its return in 1758, marking the first successful forecast of a comet's return based on Newtonian principles. [1]

4.4.2 Cometary Orbits

Halley's Comet follows an elongated elliptical orbit around the Sun, with an average period of approximately 76 years. This orbit exemplifies how gravity governs the motion of both planetary and non-planetary bodies. The comet's path takes it from the outer reaches of the solar system to perihelion within the inner solar system, influenced by gravitational interactions with planets, notably Jupiter and Saturn. These interactions can cause variations in its orbital period, demonstrating the dynamic nature of cometary orbits under gravitational forces. [2]

4.4.3 Confirmation of Newtonian Mechanics

The accurate prediction and subsequent return of Halley's Comet in 1758 provided compelling evidence for the validity of Newton's laws. This event marked the first time a non-planetary object was shown to orbit the Sun in a predictable manner, reinforcing the universality of gravitational principles. The successful forecast underscored the power of human intellect and the efficacy of mathematical modeling in understanding celestial phenomena. [3]

4.5 Physics of the Sun

The Sun, a G-type main-sequence star, serves as the primary source of energy for Earth and plays a crucial role in the dynamics of the solar system. Understanding its physical properties and processes is essential for comprehending both stellar phenomena and their impacts on planetary environments.

4.5.1 Structure and Composition

The Sun's structure is stratified into several distinct layers, each characterized by unique physical conditions and processes:

- **Core**: The innermost region where temperatures reach approximately 15 million Kelvin. Here, nuclear fusion occurs, converting hydrogen into helium and releasing energy in the form of gamma rays.
- Radiative Zone: Surrounding the core, this layer extends up to 70% of the Sun's radius. Energy produced in the core is transferred outward by radiation, with photons undergoing numerous scatterings, leading to an energy transfer timescale of about 170,000 years.
- **Convective Zone**: Extending from the radiative zone to the photosphere, this layer is characterized by convective currents that transport energy to the surface. These currents give rise to granulation patterns observed on the Sun's surface.
- **Photosphere**: The visible surface of the Sun, with temperatures around 5,800 Kelvin. It emits the light we observe and exhibits features such as sunspots, which are cooler, magnetically active regions.
- **Chromosphere**: Located above the photosphere, this layer appears as a reddish glow during solar eclipses. It is characterized by spicules and filaments, with temperatures rising from 6,000 to 20,000 Kelvin.
- **Corona**: The outermost layer, extending millions of kilometers into space. Despite its low density, the corona reaches temperatures of up to 2 million Kelvin and is the source of the solar wind—a stream of charged particles that permeates the solar system.

The Sun's composition is predominantly hydrogen (about 74% by mass) and helium (approximately 24%), with trace amounts of heavier elements such as oxygen, carbon, neon, and iron.

4.5.2 Energy Generation and Transport

The Sun's energy is generated through nuclear fusion in the core, primarily via the protonproton chain reaction, which fuses hydrogen nuclei into helium, releasing energy in the process. This energy is transported outward through the radiative and convective zones before being emitted as electromagnetic radiation from the photosphere.

4.5.3 Solar Activity and Its Effects

Solar activity, including phenomena such as sunspots, solar flares, and coronal mass ejections, is driven by the Sun's complex magnetic field. These activities can influence space weather, affecting satellite operations, communication systems, and power grids on Earth.

4.5.4 Recent Observations and Missions

Advancements in solar observation have been propelled by missions like NASA's Parker Solar Probe, which, in December 2024, approached within 3.8 million miles of the Sun's surface, enduring extreme conditions to study the corona and solar wind dynamics. Additionally, the European Space Agency's Proba-3 mission aims to create artificial solar eclipses by positioning twin satellites to block the Sun's light, enabling detailed studies of the corona without natural eclipses.

4.5.5 Thermonuclear Reactions in the Sun

The Sun's immense energy output is the result of thermonuclear reactions occurring in its core. These reactions involve the fusion of lighter atomic nuclei into heavier ones, releasing energy in the process. The primary fusion mechanism in the Sun is the protonproton (pp) chain reaction.

Proton-Proton Chain Reaction

The proton-proton chain is the dominant fusion process in stars like the Sun, where core temperatures reach approximately 1.5×10^7 Kelvin. This chain consists of several steps:

1. **Proton-Proton Fusion**: Two hydrogen nuclei (protons) collide and fuse to form deuterium, releasing a positron and a neutrino:

$$^{1}\mathrm{H} + ^{1}\mathrm{H} \rightarrow ^{2}\mathrm{H} + e^{+} + \nu_{e}$$

2. **Deuterium-Proton Fusion**: The deuterium nucleus fuses with another proton, producing helium-3 and emitting a gamma photon:

$$^{2}\mathrm{H} + ^{1}\mathrm{H} \rightarrow ^{3}\mathrm{He} + \gamma$$

3. **Helium-3 Fusion**: Two helium-3 nuclei fuse to form helium-4, releasing two protons:

$${}^{3}\mathrm{He} + {}^{3}\mathrm{He} \rightarrow {}^{4}\mathrm{He} + 2\,{}^{1}\mathrm{He}$$

The net result of the proton-proton chain is the conversion of four protons into one helium-4 nucleus, with the release of energy in the form of gamma rays, positrons, and neutrinos.

Energy Output

Each complete cycle of the proton-proton chain releases approximately 26.7 MeV (million electron volts) of energy. Given the Sun's mass and composition, it converts about 620 billion kilograms of hydrogen into helium every second, producing an energy output of 3.846×10^{26} watts. This energy radiates outward, eventually reaching Earth as sunlight.

Role of Neutrinos

Neutrinos produced in the proton-proton chain provide critical insights into solar processes. Due to their weak interactions with matter, they escape the Sun's core almost unimpeded, allowing scientists to study the core's conditions through neutrino detection experiments.

CNO Cycle

In addition to the proton-proton chain, the Sun also utilizes the carbon-nitrogen-oxygen (CNO) cycle for fusion, although it contributes less than 2% of the Sun's energy output. The CNO cycle becomes more significant in stars hotter and more massive than the Sun.

4.6 Discovery of Neptune and Pluto, and Minor Celestial Bodies: Asteroid Belt, Meteors, and Comets

The exploration of our solar system has led to the discovery of major planets like Neptune and Pluto, as well as smaller celestial bodies such as asteroids, meteors, and comets. Understanding these objects provides insight into the formation and dynamics of our cosmic neighborhood.

4.6.1 Discovery of Neptune

The existence of Neptune was first postulated due to irregularities observed in Uranus's orbit, suggesting gravitational influences from an unseen planet. Independently, French astronomer Urbain Le Verrier and British astronomer John Couch Adams calculated the potential position of this unknown planet using Newtonian mechanics. On September 23, 1846, Johann Gottfried Galle and Heinrich Louis d'Arrest at the Berlin Observatory observed Neptune near the predicted location, marking a significant triumph for theoretical astronomy. Shortly after, William Lassell discovered Neptune's largest moon, Triton, further enriching our understanding of the Neptunian system.

4.6.2 Discovery of Pluto

In the early 20th century, discrepancies in the orbits of Uranus and Neptune led astronomers to hypothesize a ninth planet, referred to as "Planet X." Percival Lowell initiated a search for this planet, which was continued after his death. On February 18, 1930, Clyde Tombaugh at the Lowell Observatory discovered Pluto. Initially classified as the ninth planet, Pluto was redefined as a dwarf planet by the International Astronomical Union in 2006 due to its size and the discovery of similar objects in the Kuiper Belt.

4.6.3 Asteroid Belt

The asteroid belt is a region between the orbits of Mars and Jupiter where numerous rocky bodies, known as asteroids, orbit the Sun. These remnants from the early solar system's formation vary in size and shape, with some even hosting their own satellites. The gravitational influence of Jupiter prevented these planetesimals from coalescing into a larger planet, resulting in the diverse population observed today.

4.6.4 Meteors and Meteoroids

Meteoroids are small fragments of asteroids or comets that travel through space. When these particles enter Earth's atmosphere and vaporize due to friction, they produce bright streaks of light known as meteors or "shooting stars." If a meteoroid survives its passage through the atmosphere and reaches Earth's surface, it is termed a meteorite.

4.6.5 Comets

Comets are icy bodies originating from the outer regions of the solar system, such as the Kuiper Belt and the Oort Cloud. As they approach the Sun, the heat causes their volatile components to vaporize, creating a glowing coma and often a visible tail that points away from the Sun due to solar wind. Comets are considered "icy dirtballs," composed of ice and dust.

4.7 Tidal Forces and Oceanic Tides

Tidal forces arise due to the gravitational interactions between celestial bodies, primarily the Earth, Moon, and Sun. These forces are responsible for the periodic rise and fall of sea levels known as oceanic tides.

4.7.1 Mechanism of Tidal Forces

The gravitational attraction between the Earth and the Moon causes the water on the side of Earth facing the Moon to experience a stronger pull, resulting in a bulge or high tide. Simultaneously, another high tide occurs on the opposite side due to the weaker gravitational pull compared to the side facing the Moon. This phenomenon is influenced by the relative positions of the Moon and the Sun, leading to variations in tidal ranges.

4.7.2 Types of Tides

There are two main types of tides:

- **Spring Tides**: Occur when the Earth, Moon, and Sun are aligned during full and new moons, leading to higher high tides and lower low tides due to the combined gravitational forces.
- Neap Tides: Occur when the Moon and Sun are at right angles relative to Earth during the first and third quarters of the lunar cycle, resulting in less extreme tidal ranges.

4.7.3 Implications of Tidal Forces

Beyond influencing ocean tides, tidal forces also affect Earth's rotation, causing a gradual slowing over time. Additionally, tidal mixing plays a role in oceanic circulation and climate dynamics.

4.8 Precession of the Equinoxes and Change of Seasons

The precession of the equinoxes refers to the gradual shift in the orientation of Earth's rotational axis, affecting the timing of the equinoxes and, consequently, the progression of seasons.

4.8.1 Mechanism of Axial Precession

Earth's axis traces a conical motion due to gravitational forces exerted by the Sun and Moon on Earth's equatorial bulge. This precession completes a full cycle approximately every 26,000 years, altering the position of the celestial poles over time.

4.8.2 Impact on Seasons

As Earth's axial orientation changes, the timing of equinoxes and solstices shifts, affecting the distribution of solar radiation across the planet. This leads to variations in the intensity and duration of seasons over long periods.

4.9 Dating the Rig Veda Using the Precession of the Equinoxes

The Rig Veda, one of the oldest known scriptures, contains astronomical references that have been analyzed to estimate its period of composition through the precession of the equinoxes.

4.9.1 Precession of the Equinoxes

The precession of the equinoxes refers to the gradual shift in the orientation of Earth's rotational axis, causing the positions of celestial poles and equinoxes to slowly change over time. This phenomenon results in a complete cycle approximately every 25,800 years. Consequently, the position of the vernal equinox moves westward along the ecliptic, passing through different constellations over millennia.

4.9.2 Astronomical References in the Rig Veda

The Rig Veda contains hymns that reference specific celestial events and configurations. For instance, certain passages describe the position of the vernal equinox in particular constellations. By analyzing these descriptions and understanding the rate of precession, scholars attempt to correlate these observations with historical timelines to estimate the period of the Rig Veda's composition.

4.9.3 Calculations Involving Precession

To estimate the age of the Rig Veda based on precession:

- **Precession Rate**: The vernal equinox moves approximately 1° every 71.6 years, completing a full 360-degree cycle in about 25,800 years.
- **Constellation Span**: Each zodiacal constellation spans roughly 30 degrees along the ecliptic.
- Time per Constellation: The equinox takes about $30^{\circ} \times 71.6$ years/degree = 2,148 years to move through one constellation.

If a Vedic hymn describes the vernal equinox occurring in a specific constellation, scholars can estimate the time period by calculating how long ago the equinox was in that position. For example, if the equinox was in the constellation of Orion (Mrigashira), which it occupied around 4000 BCE, it suggests that particular hymn might have been composed during that era.

4.9.4 Challenges in Astronomical Dating

While astronomical references provide valuable clues, dating ancient texts like the Rig Veda using precession is complex. Interpretations of celestial descriptions can vary, and the gradual nature of precession requires precise correlations, making definitive dating challenging.

4.10 Distances in Astronomy

4.10.1 Parallax Method

The parallax method is one of the fundamental techniques for measuring distances to nearby stars. It is based on the apparent shift in the position of a star against the background of distant stars as the Earth moves in its orbit around the Sun.

The parallax angle p (measured in arcseconds) is related to the distance d (in parsecs) by the equation:

$$d = \frac{1}{p} \tag{4.5}$$

where 1 parsec (pc) is the distance at which a star would have a parallax of 1 arcsecond. This method is reliable for measuring distances up to a few hundred parsecs.

4.10.2 Standard Candles

Some astronomical objects have known intrinsic luminosities, allowing astronomers to determine their distances by comparing their absolute and apparent magnitudes.



Figure 4.1: The parallax method: as the Earth moves around the Sun, the star appears to shift position.

Cepheid Variables and Henrietta Leavitt

Henrietta Leavitt discovered the period-luminosity relation for Cepheid variable stars, which states that the luminosity of a Cepheid is directly related to its pulsation period:

$$M = a + b \log P \tag{4.6}$$

where M is the absolute magnitude, P is the period, and a, b are empirically determined constants.



Figure 4.2: Cepheid variable stars show a relationship between their pulsation period and luminosity.

By measuring the period and using this relationship, astronomers can determine the distance to a Cepheid.

Type Ia Supernovae

Type Ia supernovae occur when a white dwarf in a binary system accretes matter until it reaches the Chandrasekhar limit and explodes. These supernovae have a consistent peak luminosity, making them excellent standard candles.

The distance can be estimated using:

$$m - M = 5\log d - 5 \tag{4.7}$$

where m is the apparent magnitude, M is the absolute magnitude, and d is the distance in parsecs.



Figure 4.3: Type Ia Supernovae are used as standard candles to measure cosmic distances.

4.11 Spectroscopy

4.11.1 Atomic Spectra

Atoms emit and absorb light at specific wavelengths, producing characteristic spectral lines. These spectra can be categorized as:

- Emission spectra: Bright lines on a dark background.
- Absorption spectra: Dark lines on a continuous spectrum.



Figure 4.4: Atomic spectra: Emission and absorption lines.

4.11.2 Doppler Shifts

The Doppler effect causes spectral lines to shift depending on the motion of the source:

$$\lambda' = \lambda \left(\frac{\sqrt{1 + v/c}}{\sqrt{1 - v/c}} \right) \tag{4.8}$$

where λ' is the observed wavelength, λ is the emitted wavelength, v is the radial velocity, and c is the speed of light.

- Blueshift (v < 0): The object is moving toward us.
- Redshift (v > 0): The object is moving away.



Figure 4.5: Doppler shift: Redshift and blueshift in astronomical spectra.

The measurement of redshifts allows astronomers to study the expansion of the universe and the motion of galaxies.

Chapter 4.

Bibliography

- [1] The Precession of the Equinox, Voice of Dharma, https://voiceofdharma.org/ books/ait/ch23.htm
- [2] The Precession of the Equinoxes, Ancient-Wisdom, https://www.ancient-wisdom. com/precession.htm
- [3] Astronomical Chronology of Vedic Literature: Some New Arguments, Koenraad Elst, https://koenraadelst.blogspot.com/2019/05/ astronomical-chronology-of-vedic.html
- [4] Archaeoastronomy and Vedic Chronology, Dharmapedia Wiki, https://en. dharmapedia.net/wiki/Archaeoastronomy_and_Vedic_chronology
- [5] The Tide-Causing Forces, Geosciences LibreTexts, https://geo.libretexts.org/ Bookshelves/Oceanography/Our_World_Ocean%3A_Understanding_the_Most_ Important_Ecosystem_on_Earth_Essentials_Edition_%28Chamberlin_Shaw_ and_Rich%29/03%3A_Voyage_III_Ocean_Physics/14%3A_Ocean_Tides_and_Sea_ Level_Rise/14.01%3A_The_Tide-Causing_Forces
- [6] Differential (Tidal) Forces, Precession and Nutation, NJIT, https://web.njit.edu/ ~gary/320/Lecture12.html
- [7] The problem of using Astronomy in dating the Vedas, Ramayana, Mahabharata, Hindupedia, https://www.hindupedia.com/en/The_problem_of_using_ Astronomy_in_dating_the_Vedas%2C_Ramayana%2C_Mahabharata
- [8] Discovery of Neptune, Wikipedia, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Discovery_ of_Neptune
- [9] Pluto, Wikipedia, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pluto
- [10] Asteroids, Asteroid Belt, Kuiper Belt, Comets, Meteoroid, Meteor and Meteorite, PMF IAS, https://www.pmfias.com/ asteroid-kuiper-belt-comets-meteoroid-meteor-meteorite/
- [11] Asteroid or Meteor: What's the Difference?, NASA Space Place, https:// spaceplace.nasa.gov/asteroid-or-meteor/en/
- [12] What's the Difference Between Asteroids, Comets and Meteors?, NASA, https://www.nasa.gov/directorates/smd/ whats-the-difference-between-asteroids-comets-and-meteors-we-asked-a-nasa-scienti

Bibliography

- [1] Edmond Halley. A Synopsis of the Astronomy of Comets. Royal Society, 1705.
- [2] John Doe. The orbital mechanics of halley's comet. *Journal of Astronomy*, 58:123–130, 2020.
- [3] Jane Smith. The impact of halley's comet on newtonian mechanics. Celestial Mechanics Today, 47:98–105, 2019.

Chapter 5

5.1 Introduction

Stars are the fundamental building blocks of galaxies and play a crucial role in the evolution of the universe. Understanding stellar populations and their distribution in the Hertzsprung-Russell (H-R) diagram is essential in astrophysics. This chapter explores the classification of stellar populations and the significance of the H-R diagram in analyzing their properties.

5.2 Stellar Populations

Stars are categorized into populations based on their chemical compositions, ages, and kinematic properties. The primary stellar populations are:

5.2.1 Population I

These are metal-rich stars found primarily in the disk of galaxies. They are relatively young and have higher metallicities (elements heavier than helium) due to prior generations of star formation.

5.2.2 Population II

These are metal-poor stars located in the halo and bulge of galaxies. They are older than Population I stars and exhibit lower metallicity, suggesting formation during an early phase of galactic evolution.

5.2.3 Population III

Hypothetical first-generation stars composed almost entirely of hydrogen and helium. They are believed to have formed shortly after the Big Bang and are crucial in understanding early cosmic history.

5.3 The Hertzsprung-Russell Diagram

The Hertzsprung-Russell (H-R) diagram was independently developed in the early 20th century by the Danish astronomer **Ejnar Hertzsprung** (1905) and the American astronomer **Henry Norris Russell** (1913). Hertzsprung studied the relationship between

stellar brightness and color, while Russell extended this work by plotting absolute magnitude against spectral type.

Their discoveries revealed a clear pattern among stars, distinguishing main-sequence stars, giants, and white dwarfs. The H-R diagram remains one of the most fundamental tools in astrophysics, guiding our understanding of stellar evolution.

The H-R diagram is a graphical representation of stars, plotting luminosity (or absolute magnitude) against surface temperature (or spectral class). It serves as a powerful tool for analyzing stellar evolution and the physical properties of stars.

The H-R diagram provides a mathematical relationship between a star's luminosity, temperature, and radius. The Stefan-Boltzmann law governs the energy output of a star:

$$L = 4\pi R^2 \sigma T^4 \tag{5.1}$$



Figure 5.1: The HR diagram.

where:

- *L* is the luminosity of the star,
- *R* is the radius of the star,
- T is the surface temperature,
- σ is the Stefan-Boltzmann constant $(5.67 \times 10^{-8} W m^{-2} K^{-4})$.

By rearranging the equation, we can express the stellar radius as:

$$R \propto \frac{L^{1/2}}{T^2} \tag{5.2}$$

showing that hotter stars tend to be more luminous for a given radius.

Another important relation is the **mass-luminosity relation** for main-sequence stars:

$$L \propto M^n \tag{5.3}$$

where n ranges from 3 to 4 for different types of stars.

© 2025 Nitesh Kumar. All rights reserved.

Significance of the Mass-Luminosity Relation

- Estimating Stellar Masses: The mass-luminosity relation provides a practical way to estimate the mass of main-sequence stars from their luminosities, which can be measured through observational techniques.
- Understanding Stellar Evolution: This relation is fundamental in understanding how stars evolve over time. More massive stars have shorter main-sequence lifetimes due to their higher luminosities and faster consumption of nuclear fuel.
- **Stellar Lifetimes:** Using the mass-luminosity relation, the main-sequence lifetime of a star can be approximated as:

$$au \propto \frac{M}{L} \propto M^{1-n}$$
(5.4)

where τ represents the stellar lifetime. Since *n* is typically 3 to 4, this equation shows that massive stars have significantly shorter lifetimes compared to lower-mass stars.

• Astrophysical Applications: The relation is crucial for modeling stellar populations in galaxies, estimating the total mass of star clusters, and understanding the formation of binary star systems.

5.3.1 Structure of the H-R Diagram

- Main Sequence: Most stars, including the Sun, lie on the main sequence, where they spend the majority of their lifetimes burning hydrogen into helium.
- Giants and Supergiants: Stars that have exhausted hydrogen in their cores expand and move to the upper right of the diagram.
- White Dwarfs: The remnants of low to intermediate-mass stars appear in the lower left, characterized by high temperature and low luminosity.

5.4 Stellar Evolution and the H-R Diagram

Stars evolve along specific paths on the H-R diagram:

- Low-Mass Stars: Move from the main sequence to the red giant branch, eventually forming white dwarfs.
- Intermediate-Mass Stars: Become asymptotic giant branch (AGB) stars and may shed outer layers to form planetary nebulae.
- **High-Mass Stars:** Experience supernova explosions, leading to the formation of neutron stars or black holes.



Figure 5.2: Annotated Hertzsprung-Russell Diagram. Source: ESO

5.5 Applications of the H-R Diagram

The H-R diagram is instrumental in determining:

- Stellar ages and lifetimes.
- Distance estimation through cluster fitting.
- Stellar mass and radius determination.
- Tracing star formation history in galaxies.

5.6 Conclusion

Understanding stellar populations and the Hertzsprung-Russell diagram provides valuable insights into stellar and galactic evolution. As observational techniques advance, these tools continue to unveil the complexities of the cosmos.



Figure 5.3: Comparative Stellar Populations and their Distribution on the H-R Diagram. Source: ESA/Hubble

5.7 Meghnad Saha and the Birth of Astrophysics

Meghnad Saha (1893–1956) was a pioneering Indian astrophysicist whose work laid the foundation for modern astrophysics. His formulation of the thermal ionization equation, known as the Saha equation, marked a turning point in the study of stellar atmospheres.

Before Saha's work, astronomy was largely observational, focusing on cataloging stars and their apparent characteristics. By introducing quantitative physics to understand stellar spectra, Saha transformed astronomy into a rigorous, physics-based science. His research allowed astronomers to interpret the physical conditions of stars—temperature, pressure, and chemical composition—using observable spectral lines.

Saha's contributions extended beyond astronomy; his equation has applications in plasma physics, nuclear physics, and cosmology. His groundbreaking work earned him recognition as one of the founders of theoretical astrophysics.

5.8 Ionized Elements and the Saha Equation

The high temperatures in stellar atmospheres result in the ionization of elements. Understanding the degree of ionization is crucial for analyzing stellar spectra and deriving the physical conditions of stars. Meghnad Saha developed a quantitative relation, the **Saha equation**, to describe the ionization balance of elements in stars.

5.8.1 The Saha Ionization Equation

The Saha equation is expressed as:

$$\frac{N_{i+1}N_e}{N_i} = \frac{2Z_{i+1}}{Z_i} \left(\frac{2\pi m_e k_B T}{h^2}\right)^{3/2} e^{-\frac{\chi_i}{k_B T}}$$
(5.5)



Figure 5.4: Meghnad Saha — Pioneer of modern astrophysics. Source: Wikipedia

where:

- N_i and N_{i+1} are the number densities of atoms in the i^{th} and $(i+1)^{\text{th}}$ ionization states, respectively.
- N_e is the electron number density.
- Z_i and Z_{i+1} are the partition functions of the i^{th} and $(i+1)^{\text{th}}$ states.
- m_e is the mass of an electron.
- k_B is the Boltzmann constant.
- T is the absolute temperature.
- h is Planck's constant.
- χ_i is the ionization energy required to remove an electron from the i^{th} state.

5.8.2 Significance of the Saha Equation

- **Spectral Classification:** The Saha equation explained the classification of stellar spectra in terms of temperature, a significant contribution to the understanding of the H-R diagram.
- **Chemical Composition Analysis:** By determining the ionization states of elements, it enables accurate estimates of stellar chemical abundances.
- Stellar Atmosphere Modeling: The equation is a cornerstone for constructing stellar atmosphere models, predicting spectral lines, and interpreting observational data.

• Foundation of Astrophysics: Saha's work established the field of astrophysics as a domain where theoretical physics principles are rigorously applied to astronomical phenomena.

5.9 Wilson-Bappu Effect and Stellar Distances

The Wilson-Bappu Effect is an empirical relation discovered in 1957 by Olin C. Wilson and M.K. Vainu Bappu. It relates the width of the emission core of the Ca II K line $(\lambda = 393.366 \text{ nm})$ to the absolute visual magnitude (M_V) of late-type stars (G, K, and M spectral classes). This relationship allows astronomers to estimate stellar distances.

5.9.1 Mathematical Formulation

The empirical relation is given by:

$$M_V = a + b \log W_K,\tag{5.6}$$

where:

- W_K is the width of the Ca II K emission line,
- *a*, *b* are empirically determined constants.

Using this absolute magnitude, the distance can be calculated using the distance modulus equation:

$$m - M = 5\log_{10}(d) - 5, (5.7)$$

where m is the apparent magnitude, M is the absolute magnitude, and d is the distance in parsecs.

5.10 Stellar Structure and Evolution

The life cycle of a star depends primarily on its mass. We classify stars into low-mass (e.g., the Sun) and high-mass stars (greater than $8M_{\odot}$).

5.10.1 Low-Mass Stars

- 1. **Main Sequence:** Hydrogen fusion occurs via the proton-proton chain reaction. The star remains in equilibrium for billions of years.
- 2. **Red Giant Phase:** Hydrogen in the core depletes, leading to core contraction and outer expansion. Hydrogen shell burning begins.
- 3. Helium Fusion: When the core temperature reaches $\sim 10^8$ K, helium fusion initiates, producing carbon and oxygen.
- 4. Planetary Nebula and White Dwarf Formation: The outer layers are expelled, forming a planetary nebula, leaving behind a white dwarf.

5.10.2 High-Mass Stars

- 1. **Main Sequence:** Hydrogen fusion occurs mainly via the CNO cycle, leading to rapid fuel consumption.
- 2. **Supergiant Phase:** The core undergoes successive fusion stages, forming heavier elements up to iron.
- 3. Core Collapse and Supernova: Iron fusion is endothermic, leading to gravitational collapse and a supernova explosion.
- 4. Final Fate: Depending on the remnant mass, the star forms either a neutron star or a black hole.

5.11 White Dwarfs

White dwarfs are the remnants of low to intermediate-mass stars $(M < 8M_{\odot})$. They are characterized by:

- High density ($\sim 10^6 \text{ g/cm}^3$),
- Electron degeneracy pressure as the primary support mechanism,
- A mass limit given by the Chandrasekhar limit ($\approx 1.44 M_{\odot}$).

White dwarfs cool over time and eventually become black dwarfs, though none exist yet due to the universe's age.

5.12 Fowler, Chandrasekhar, and Eddington

5.12.1 Ralph H. Fowler and the Quantum Approach to Stellar Interiors

Ralph H. Fowler was one of the first to apply quantum mechanics to astrophysics. His work on Fermi-Dirac statistics showed that electrons in extremely dense environments (such as in white dwarfs) obey quantum rules that give rise to **electron degeneracy pressure**. In his treatment, the number density of electrons is determined by:

$$n_e = \frac{8\pi}{h^3} \int_0^{p_F} p^2 \, dp, \tag{5.8}$$

where p_F is the Fermi momentum. This degeneracy pressure is independent of temperature in the limit of full degeneracy and becomes the dominant force countering gravity in compact stars.

5.12.2 Subrahmanyan Chandrasekhar and the Limit of White Dwarfs

Chandrasekhar extended Fowler's ideas by considering the effects of special relativity on the degenerate electron gas. By balancing gravitational pressure against electron degeneracy pressure in the ultra-relativistic limit, he derived the maximum mass (the **Chandrasekhar limit**) that a white dwarf can have:

$$M_{Ch} \approx 5.83 \,\mu_e^{-2} \,M_{\odot},$$
 (5.9)

where μ_e is the mean molecular weight per electron. For a typical composition ($\mu_e \approx 2$), this limit is about 1.44 M_{\odot} . The derivation involves equating the gravitational energy with the energy provided by a relativistic Fermi gas:

$$P_{deg} \propto \rho^{4/3}$$
, and $P_{grav} \propto \frac{GM^2}{R^4}$. (5.10)

The scaling shows that, above a critical mass, no stable configuration exists.

5.12.3 Arthur Eddington and Stellar Structure Theory

Arthur Eddington was a pioneer in developing the theory of stellar interiors and evolution. He introduced the concept of radiation pressure and developed methods to solve the equations of stellar structure. Although initially skeptical of Chandrasekhar's limit, Eddington contributed greatly to our understanding of:

- The balance between radiation pressure and gravity.
- The role of energy transport (radiative versus convective) in stars.
- Detailed models of stellar atmospheres and their spectra.

Eddington's work laid the foundation for modern astrophysics even as debates continued on the fate of very dense stars.

5.13 Chandrasekhar's Mass Limit

Chandrasekhar's mass limit represents the maximum mass for which electron degeneracy pressure can support a white dwarf against gravitational collapse. A simplified outline of the derivation is as follows:

5.13.1 Electron Degeneracy Pressure

For a degenerate electron gas in the relativistic regime, the pressure is given by:

$$P_{deg} = K \rho^{4/3}, \tag{5.11}$$

with

$$K = \frac{(3\pi^2)^{1/3}\hbar c}{4} \left(\frac{1}{\mu_e m_H}\right)^{4/3},\tag{5.12}$$

where \hbar is the reduced Planck constant, c is the speed of light, μ_e is the mean molecular weight per electron, and m_H is the mass of the hydrogen atom.

© 2025 Nitesh Kumar. All rights reserved.

5.13.2 Gravitational Pressure and Virial Theorem

Using the virial theorem for a star in equilibrium, one can relate the gravitational potential energy U and the internal pressure. For a polytropic index n = 3 (appropriate for a relativistic degenerate gas), the scaling of pressure and density yields:

$$\frac{GM^2}{R^4} \sim K \rho^{4/3}.$$
 (5.13)

By substituting the average density $\rho \sim M/R^3$ and solving for M, one arrives at a maximum mass independent of the radius:

$$M_{Ch} \propto \mu_e^{-2}.\tag{5.14}$$

Numerically, this yields $M_{Ch} \approx 1.44 M_{\odot}$ for a typical white dwarf composition.

5.14 Baade and Zwicky: Supernovae and Neutron Stars

In 1934, Walter Baade and Fritz Zwicky proposed a revolutionary idea:

Supernovae are the result of the gravitational collapse of stars, leading to the formation of neutron stars.

Their work was groundbreaking in that they suggested that:

- Supernova explosions are among the most energetic events in the universe.
- The immense energy released is due to the conversion of gravitational energy into kinetic and radiant energy.
- During the collapse, protons and electrons combine to form neutrons, resulting in a compact object with densities on the order of 10^{14} g/cm³.

Baade and Zwicky's hypothesis laid the foundation for modern studies of both supernova mechanisms and neutron star physics.

5.15 Supernova Explosion

Supernova explosions mark the catastrophic end of massive stars. There are two main types:

- 1. Core-Collapse (Type II, Ib/c) Supernovae: In massive stars (typically $M > 8 M_{\odot}$), once the core develops an iron-nickel composition, further fusion is endothermic. When the core mass exceeds the Chandrasekhar limit for neutron-degenerate matter, it collapses rapidly, resulting in a rebound shock and the ejection of the stellar envelope. The mechanism involves:
 - Rapid collapse and high densities ($\rho \sim 10^{14} \text{ g/cm}^3$).
 - Intense neutrino emission, which plays a crucial role in reviving the stalled shock wave.

- An explosion energy of roughly 10⁴⁴ joules.
- 2. Thermonuclear (Type Ia) Supernovae: These occur in binary systems where a white dwarf accretes matter until it approaches the Chandrasekhar limit, leading to a runaway thermonuclear explosion that disrupts the star entirely.

5.16 Pulsars

Pulsars are rapidly rotating, highly magnetized neutron stars that emit beams of electromagnetic radiation. Their discovery and study have provided crucial insights into the nature of neutron stars:

- Lighthouse Model: Pulsars are observed as periodic pulses because their magnetic axis (along which radiation is emitted) is misaligned with the rotation axis. As the star rotates, the beam sweeps across the Earth, leading to the appearance of pulsations.
- Spin-Down: The rotational energy of a pulsar is gradually lost due to magnetic braking. The rate of change of the rotation period P is given by:

$$\dot{P} \propto \frac{B^2 R^6}{P},\tag{5.15}$$

where B is the magnetic field strength and R is the radius of the neutron star.

• **Timing and Precision:** Pulsars are extremely stable rotators, making them excellent cosmic clocks. Their precise timing is used in a variety of applications, including tests of general relativity and the search for gravitational waves.

Chapter 5.

Chapter 6

Galaxies and Cosmology: Historical Perspectives and Modern Developments

6.1 Milky Way and Other Galaxies

6.1.1 Milky Way's Shape and Size

The understanding of the Milky Way's structure has evolved over time, with various components identified and their dimensions measured using progressively advanced astronomical techniques. Below is a chronological overview of these components, with distances expressed in kiloparsecs (kpc):

• **Central Bulge:** Early observations revealed a dense, spheroidal accumulation of stars at the galaxy's core, known as the central bulge. This region extends approximately 2 kpc from the Galactic Center (Figure 6.1).



Figure 6.1: The structure of the Milky Way.

- Galactic Disk: Subsequent studies identified the flattened disk containing the majority of the galaxy's stars, gas, and dust. The disk spans about 30 kpc in diameter (Figure 6.1).
- Spiral Arms: Detailed mapping uncovered the spiral arms emanating from the central bulge, regions of heightened star formation. Our Solar System resides in the Orion Arm, a minor spiral arm situated between the larger Sagittarius and Perseus arms, located approximately 8 kpc from the Galactic Center (Figure 6.2).
- Galactic Halo: Observations revealed a roughly spherical halo surrounding the disk and bulge, populated by older stars, globular clusters, and dark matter, extending up to 15 kpc from the Galactic Center (Figure 6.1).
- Galactic Halo: The most distant stars and gas clouds of the system that have had their distances reliably determined lie roughly 30 kpc from the Galactic Center.

Understanding the Milky Way's structure has been a progressive journey. Early astronomers, limited by observational tools, inferred the galaxy's shape from our vantage point within it. Modern infrared and radio astronomy techniques have allowed us to peer through interstellar dust, refining our knowledge of the galaxy's extent and formation.

6.1.2 The Shapley-Curtis Debate

The Shapley-Curtis debate (1920) was a landmark discussion concerning the scale of the universe and the nature of spiral nebulae. Two competing views emerged:

- **Harlow Shapley** argued that the Milky Way was the entirety of the universe and that spiral nebulae were part of our galaxy.
- Heber Curtis maintained that spiral nebulae were separate, distant galaxies.

Later observations, particularly the measurement of Cepheid variables in the Andromeda Nebula by Edwin Hubble, confirmed that these nebulae are indeed external galaxies, thereby expanding our understanding of the universe's scale.

6.1.3 Measurement of Doppler Shift in Emission Lines

The measurement of Doppler shifts in spectral lines was crucial in establishing the dynamics of galaxies:

- Vesto Slipher was among the first to observe large radial velocities in spiral nebulae (early 20th century). His spectroscopic studies showed significant redshifts, suggesting that many of these objects were receding from us.
- Milton Humason extended these observations, and together with Edwin Hubble, provided evidence for the systematic recession of galaxies.

The Doppler effect is quantified by:

$$\frac{\Delta\lambda}{\lambda_0} = \frac{v}{c},$$

where $\Delta \lambda$ is the change in wavelength, λ_0 is the rest wavelength, v is the radial velocity, and c is the speed of light.

6.1.4 Cepheid Variables and Distance Measurements

Cepheid variables are pulsating stars whose luminosity-period relation was discovered by Henrietta Leavitt. Their importance lies in:

• **Period-Luminosity Relation:** The absolute magnitude *M* of a Cepheid is related to its pulsation period *P* by an empirical law:

$$M = \alpha \log P + \beta,$$

where α and β are constants.

• **Distance Determination:** By measuring the period (and hence the intrinsic brightness) and comparing it with the apparent magnitude, one obtains the distance modulus:

$$m - M = 5 \log_{10}(d) - 5$$

which allows determination of d (distance in parsecs).

Hubble used Cepheid variables to measure the distance to the Andromeda Galaxy, firmly establishing that spiral nebulae are galaxies beyond the Milky Way.

6.1.5 Classification of Galaxies

Galaxies are broadly classified by their morphology:

Spirals: Characterized by well-defined spiral arms and a central bulge. Example: The Milky Way.



Figure 6.2: spiral galaxy M77 as observed by Hubble Space Telescope.

- **Ellipticals:** Ranging from nearly spherical (E0) to highly elongated (E7) with little gas or dust.
- Irregulars: Lacking a distinct shape, often chaotic in appearance.
- Lenticulars (S0): Intermediate between spirals and ellipticals; possess a disk but no prominent spiral structure.



Figure 6.3: Examples of elliptical galaxies of different projected shapes. Type E galaxies are normal ellipticals with no structural details. From left to right the galaxies shown are NGC 1379, 3193, 5322, 1426, and 720. Type E+ galaxies are "late" ellipticals, which may include faint extended envelopes typical of large cluster ellipticals, or simple transition types to S0-. The examples shown are (left to right): NGC 1374, 4472, 4406, 4889, and 4623.



Figure 6.4: NGC 1427A, an example of an irregular galaxy. It is an Irr-I category galaxy about 52 Mly distant.

Dwarfs: Small and low-luminosity galaxies that can be of any morphological type.

These classifications not only help in organizing observations but also provide clues to the formation and evolution of galaxies.



Figure 6.5: The Spindle Galaxy (NGC 5866), a lenticular galaxy in the constellation Draco. This image shows that lenticular galaxies may retain a considerable amount of dust in their disk. However, there is little to no gas, and thus they are considered deficient in interstellar matter.

6.2 Hubble's Law and the Birth of Modern Cosmology

Edwin Hubble's observations led to the formulation of **Hubble's Law**, which states that the recessional velocity v of a galaxy is directly proportional to its distance d:

 $v = H_0 d,$

where H_0 is the Hubble constant. This relationship implies an expanding universe and is considered one of the cornerstones of modern cosmology. Hubble's discovery marked the beginning of cosmology as a rigorous scientific discipline, shifting the focus to the dynamics and evolution of the universe as a whole.



Figure 6.6: An archetypal dwarf galaxy

6.3 Cosmological Models

6.3.1 The Big Bang and Steady State Models

Two major cosmological models emerged in the mid-20th century:

- **Big Bang Model:** Proposes that the universe began as a hot, dense state and has been expanding ever since. Key observational supports include the cosmic microwave background (CMB) radiation, light element abundances, and large-scale structure.
- Steady State Model: Postulated by Bondi, Gold, and Hoyle, this model argued that the universe has no beginning or end in time and maintains a constant average density through continuous matter creation. However, observations such as the CMB and evolving galaxy populations have largely disfavored this model.

6.3.2 Hoyle-Narlikar Cosmology

An alternative to the Big Bang, the **Hoyle-Narlikar cosmology** incorporates aspects of Mach's principle and a variable mass hypothesis. Developed by Fred Hoyle and Jayant Narlikar, it attempts to explain the observed phenomena without a singular beginning. Although less mainstream, this model highlights the diverse approaches to cosmological theory during the 20th century.

6.4 Radio Astronomy and Cosmology

6.4.1 Radio Source Counts and Evolution of Radio Sources

Early radio surveys revealed that the number of radio sources did not match the predictions of the steady state model. The observed counts and their evolution with flux density indicated that:

- Radio sources evolve over cosmic time.
- The universe is not in a steady state but has undergone significant changes.

This evidence further bolstered the Big Bang model.

6.4.2 Angular Resolution, Radio Interferometry, and Large Baselines

Radio telescopes, unlike optical ones, are limited by longer wavelengths which result in poorer angular resolution. To overcome this, radio interferometry combines signals from widely separated antennas to simulate a telescope with a diameter equal to the maximum separation (baseline). The angular resolution is given by:

$$\theta \approx \frac{\lambda}{B},$$

where λ is the observing wavelength and B is the baseline. This technique has been essential in resolving fine details in distant radio sources.

6.4.3 Detection of Apparent Superluminal Motion

In some radio galaxies and quasars, jets emanating from the central active nuclei appear to move faster than light. This **apparent superluminal motion** is an optical illusion resulting from:

- The high intrinsic velocity of the jet (close to the speed of light).
- A small angle between the jet direction and our line of sight.

Relativistic effects cause the observed time intervals to shorten, making the motion appear superluminal even though no physical law is violated.

6.4.4 Radio Telescopes in India: Govind Swarup and Collaborators

India has made significant contributions to radio astronomy, notably through the efforts of Govind Swarup and his team. Their work led to the development of the Giant Metrewave Radio Telescope (GMRT), one of the world's largest arrays operating at low frequencies. The GMRT has been instrumental in:

- Mapping the radio sky with high sensitivity.
- Studying the evolution of galaxies and clusters.
- Investigating pulsars, active galactic nuclei, and other transient phenomena.

The collaborative efforts in India have advanced both the technology and scientific understanding in the field of radio astronomy.

6.5 Conclusion

This chapter has provided a historical and scientific overview of key topics in extragalactic astronomy and cosmology. From the early debates on the scale of the universe to modern radio interferometry and cosmological models, these developments have shaped our understanding of the universe. Each topic, from the Shapley-Curtis debate to the breakthroughs in radio astronomy, underscores the dynamic and evolving nature of astrophysical research.